THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-CP-21-03002

Appellate Case No. 2020-000815

RECEIVED

Nov 16 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Dennis Robert Mitton, Respondent,

v.

Danny James, Appellant.

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

C. Mitchell Brown
Blake T. Williams
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
Post Office Box 11070
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 799-2000

G. Murrell Smith, Jr.
Shanon N. Peake
Smith Robinson
126 North Main Street
Sumter, SC 29151
(803) 778-2471

Attorneys for Appellant Danny James

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the lower court err by granting Plaintiff's Rule 60(b) motion where the order was procedurally improper, sanctioned Defendant without conducting the required analysis, and was premised on flawed legal analysis and facts without evidentiary support?
- II. Did the lower court abuse its discretion by denying Defendant's Rule 60(b) motion where newly discovered evidence wholly undermined the factual basis for the court's order reinstating the default judgment?
- III. Did the lower court err by finding that it lacked the ability to rule on Defendant's motion to stay execution on the judgment due to its prior order of reference of supplemental proceedings to a special referee?
- IV. Did the special referee err by forcing Defendant to assign any potential contract or tort claims against his liability insurer where such claims are unripe and premature?

INTRODUCTION

This action arises from a motor vehicle accident that occurred on May 16, 2018. The subject matter of this appeal, however, concerns the propriety of the lower court's actions regarding a default judgment entered against Defendant Danny James ("Defendant") due entirely to the actions of his original counsel, Louis Nettles ("Nettles"). The court initially denied Defendant's Rule 55(c) motion to set aside the entry of default, and in the same order, issued a default judgment. On reconsideration pursuant to Rule 59(e), however, the court agreed to set aside the entry of default, which negated the default judgment as well.

Several months later and while the parties were engaged in discovery, Plaintiff filed a motion pursuant to Rule 60(b) requesting that the court vacate its order granting reconsideration in light of alleged misconduct by Nettles. The court then granted this motion, *vacated* its order granting reconsideration, and *reinstated* the original default judgment. This was erroneous for several reasons. First, Rule 60(b) applies to final judgments and orders and does not provide a mechanism to reconsider and set aside an interlocutory order. Second, when the lower court set aside the entry of default, it ruled that Defendant's answer would be deemed operative. By granting Rule 60(b) relief and reinstating the prior judgment—premised on a finding of attorney misconduct—the lower court's order had the effect of sanctioning Defendant by striking his Answer and placing him in default. Plaintiff never moved to strike Defendant's answer or requested sanctions, and the lower court did not apply the correct standard for determining whether sanctions were appropriate. Therefore, the lower court committed reversible error by utilizing Rule 60(b) as a vehicle to essentially sanction Defendant and strike the Defendant's accepted Answer. Finally, even if Rule 60(b) could provide a proper avenue for the court's actions, which it does not, the court abused its discretion by committing legal error in its analysis and drawing

unreasonable inferences of fact, leading to inaccurate factual findings to support its conclusion. This Court should reverse and vacate the lower court's order, and remand for further proceedings.

Additionally, after the court reinstated the default judgment, Nettles gave an affidavit directly contradicting the lower court's factual underpinning for its order "reinstating" the default judgment. Accordingly, Defendant moved pursuant to Rule 60(b)—with leave of this Court—to set aside the judgment in light of this new evidence (among other direct evidence), which motion the lower court denied. This was also an abuse of discretion as the affidavit and supporting exhibits unequivocally established that the court's rationale and fact basis was fundamentally flawed. This represents an independent ground for reversing the lower court, setting aside the judgment, and permitting the matter to proceed on the merits.

The lower court also erred by refusing to consider Defendant's motion to stay execution of the judgment by finding that it lacked the authority to hear that motion in light of its prior order referring supplemental proceedings to the special referee.

Finally, the special referee erred in issuing an order assigning any potential contract or tort claims of the Defendant against his insurer to the Plaintiff, as such an order was premature.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE & FACTS¹

I. Factual background and procedural history of default judgment proceedings.

Plaintiff Dennis Mitton ("Plaintiff") filed the Summons and Complaint on November 15, 2018 against Defendant. (Compl.; R. __.) Defendant was served with the pleadings the following day, on November 16, 2018. (Affidavit of Service; R. __.)

¹ Appellant combines the statement of the case and statement of the facts to eliminate repetition due to considerable overlap between the procedural history and facts in this case.

Defendant's car insurance was with South Carolina Farm Bureau Insurance Company ("Farm Bureau"). In accordance with the policy, Farm Bureau retained Attorney Louis Nettles ("Nettles") to represent Defendant on December 7, 2018. Nettles filed his Notice of Appearance that same day. (Notice of Appearance; R. __.) Nettles, however, failed to timely serve or file an Answer or otherwise plead on behalf of Defendant. Plaintiff filed a motion for order of default and hearing on damages on March 27, 2019. (Mot. for Order of Default; R. __.)

On March 27, 2019, the court entered default against Defendant. (Order dated 3/27/2019; R. __.) Defendant moved for relief from the entry of default pursuant to Rule 55(c) on April 4, 2019. (Mot. for Relief, R. __.) In support of the motion, Nettles explained that several personal obligations arose around the time he received the summons and complaint which provided a sufficient explanation for the default. (*Id.*, R. __.) In particular, he was in the process of having his younger brother admitted to assisted living due to early onset dementia and was trying to manage his affairs. (*Id.*, R. __.) He was also assisting his aging and ailing mother, who ultimately passed away in February of 2019. (*Id.*; R. __.) Nettles also argued that the *Wham*² factors weighed in Defendant's favor. (Mem. in Supp. of Mot.; R. __.)

Plaintiff opposed this motion, contending that Nettles' negligence was imputed to his client and his personal obligations were an insufficient explanation for the default. (Resp. in Opp'n at 1-2; R. __.) Plaintiff noted that Nettles received the summons and complaint nine days before the deadline and thus had sufficient time to file a response or obtain an extension. (*Id.* at 2; R. __.)

² As the Supreme Court has explained, these factors are: "(1) the timing of the motion for relief; (2) whether the defendant has a meritorious defense; and (3) the degree of prejudice to the plaintiff if relief is granted." *Sundown Operating Co. v. Intedge Indus., Inc.*, 383 S.C. 601, 607-08, 681 S.E.2d 885, 888 (2009) (citing *Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc.*, 298 S.C. 462, 465, 381 S.E.2d 499, 501-02 (Ct. App. 1989)).

On August 27, 2019, the lower court held a hearing on this motion and verbally noted its intent to decline to set aside the entry of default. (Tr. of 8/27/2019 Hrg. at 14:7-10; R. __.) The court proceeded to immediately hear Plaintiff's damages evidence. On August 30, 2019, the court entered a combined written order denying relief from the entry of default and entering judgment in favor of Plaintiff in the amount of \$4,018,653.37. (Order dated 8/30/2019; R. __.) The court found that Nettles' personal issues were not a sufficient explanation for the default and his negligence was imputed to Defendant. (*Id.* at 2; R. __.)

Farm Bureau retained different counsel, G. Murrell Smith, Jr., to represent Defendant shortly after the entry of judgment.³ On September 9, 2019, Defendant timely filed a motion to reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e) on September 9, 2019. (Mot. to Reconsider; R. __.) Defendant also conditionally filed an Answer on September 11, 2019, denying any liability for the accident or the resulting harm to Plaintiff. (Answer; R. __.) In the motion to reconsider, Defendant offered further argument and exhibits supporting that Nettles' personal issues warranted reconsideration and setting aside the default under the liberal "good cause" standard applicable to this issue under South Carolina law. (*See* Mot. to Reconsider; R. __.) The exhibits included an affidavit from Nettles and records detailing Nettles' time and effort in caring for his brother and mother. (*See id.* at Exs. C, D, and E; R. __.)

In the affidavit, Nettles explained that in addition to trying to manage his brother's affairs, on multiple occasions his brother became lost while driving and Nettles had to rescue him and take him home. (Mot. for Relief, Ex. 3 – Affidavit of Louis Nettles at ¶ 5, R. __.) Moreover, after he

³ Nettles' representation of Defendant terminated around this time. Nettles was inadvertently listed as counsel of record on the court docket until the court and parties realized this oversight at a March 27, 2020 hearing. (*See* Tr. of 3/27/2020 Hrg. at 4:15-5:12; R. __.) As detailed below, however, Nettles' attorney-client relationship with Defendant had terminated long before that time. (*See id.*)

was admitted to the assisted living facility, his brother would sometimes leave the facility and staff would call Nettles to assist. (*Id.*) Nettles' affidavit also explained that his aging mother was experiencing a decline in health during fall 2018, which ultimately resulted in her passing in February 2019. (*Id.* at ¶ 5 R. __.) From before Thanksgiving 2018 until her death, Nettles visited her nearly daily in order to attend to her comfort, monitor her care and medication schedule, and ensure her daily care was satisfactory. (*Id.*) She was alert during the visits and expected his daily presence, which provided her peace of mind. (*Id.*)

The court heard Defendant's motion to reconsider on October 2, 2019. The morning of the hearing, Plaintiff submitted a response asserting that Defendant's motion should be denied due to Nettles' lack of candor with the court. (Resp. in Opp'n; R. __.) Plaintiff contended that the assisted living facility records indicated Nettles' brother was actually admitted on December 3, 2018, which was four days before his involvement in the case. (*Id.*) Plaintiff also contended that the records listed Nettles' brother's daughter as a contact person and that the daughter was available to care for her father's needs. (*See id.*) Plaintiff's counsel further argued that his office attempted to communicate with Nettles three times between when he noticed his appearance and the answer deadline but was unable to reach him. (*Id.* at 2-3; R. __.)

On November 19, 2019, the court entered an order granting Defendant's motion to reconsider and setting aside the entry of default and, as a result, the corresponding default judgment. (Order dated 11/19/2019; R. __.) The court acknowledged that although the parties disputed the timing of Nettles' issues relating to his mother and the degree of responsibility Nettles had regarding his brother, there was good cause under Rule 55(c) to set aside the entry of default. The court noted that, regardless of these disputes, it was "clear" that Nettles was having "extreme personal difficulties" due to the illness and subsequent death of his mother and discovery that his

brother was suffering from dementia. (*Id.* at 4-5; R. __.) The court explained that although the negligence of a party's attorney is imputed to the client, the reasons given by counsel were "satisfactory under the specific facts and circumstances of this case." (*Id.* at 4; R. __.) The court noted that the personal tragedies that befell Nettles caused him "grief making it difficult to balance his work responsibilities with the important task of caring for his family members." (*Id.*) The court explained that attorneys are "human and sometimes make mistakes that can rise to the level of good cause." (*Id.*) The court also found that the *Wham* factors weighed in favor of setting aside the entry of default, as the Defendant's motion for relief was timely and Defendant had a meritorious defense as to damages. (*Id.* at 6-7; R. __.) Finally, the court ordered that the Answer filed on September 11, 2019, would be deemed Defendant's Answer. (*Id.* at 7; R. __.)

The parties continued thereafter with litigating the case. At a meeting of counsel during the discovery process, defense counsel produced a release that Nettles had procured from Defendant on August 15, 2019. The release provided that Nettles would: (1) pay Defendant \$6,100 dollars in cash, (2) pay for the repairs to Defendant's leased vehicle resulting from the accident, and (3) pay any filing fees or expenses incurred by Defendant in the event he had to file bankruptcy and \$15 per hour for any time he spent preparing for and appearing at any bankruptcy proceedings. (*See* Mot. to Vacate, Ex. C – Release; R. __.) In return, Defendant agreed to a general release of Nettles, his heirs and assigns, and all other persons, firms, corporations, or associations from any and all claims for damages arising out of the handling of this suit. (*See id.*) The release, however, contained no admission of liability by Nettles.

On February 20, 2020, Plaintiff filed what was styled as a "Motion to Vacate Order Dated November 19, 2019 and to Reinstate Order Dated August 30, 2019" pursuant to Rule 60(b), SCRCF. (Mot to Vacate; R. __.) In that motion, Plaintiff asserted that Nettles engaged in

“misconduct” by failing to disclose the existence of the release at the time of the initial August 27, 2019 hearing on Defendant’s motion to set aside entry of default. (*Id.*) Plaintiff contended that the release was “newly discovered evidence” that constituted a “fraud on the court” preventing him from having a full opportunity to be heard and from fully exhibiting and presenting his case to the court. (*Id.*)

Defendant filed a response in opposition on March 26, 2020. Defendant argued that Rule 60(b) is not a proper procedural mechanism to seek revision of an interlocutory order, as it concerns relief from a “final judgment, order, or proceeding.” (Resp. in Opp’n at 3-6; R. __.) Defendant further contended that even if Rule 60(b) could provide a proper procedural mechanism, the existence of the release was irrelevant. It had no impact on whether good cause existed at the time of Nettles’ failure to answer since it did exist until long after the relevant time period. (*Id.* at 10-13; R. __.) Defendant asserted that the court properly focused on the facts and circumstances immediately prior to and after the deadline for filing a responsive pleading in determining if the entry of default should be set aside. (*Id.* at 11; R. __.) Finally, Defendant argued that Nettles’ actions did not constitute fraud on the court since the existence of the release was irrelevant and, in any event, it did not affect Plaintiff’s ability to present his arguments regarding whether the court should consider setting aside the entry of default. (*Id.* at 14-18; R. __.)

The court held a hearing on Plaintiff’s motion on March 27, 2020.⁴ On April 21, 2020, the court issued an order: (1) granting Plaintiff’s motion to vacate the November 19, 2019 order and

⁴ This was the outset of the coronavirus restrictions and immediately prior to the lockdown. Nettles came to the courthouse the morning of the hearing, but was not admitted into the building because his name was not on the list of litigants and attorneys. (Tr. of 3/27/2020 Hrg. at 4:6-14; Tr. of 8/19/2020 Hrg. at 7:17-23; R. __.) At the start of the hearing, the court informed counsel of this and asked if Nettles needed to attend. (Tr. of 3/27/2020 Hrg. at 4:17-19; R. __.) Plaintiff’s counsel said “[h]e’s no longer involved in the case. He’s not an attorney of record.” (*Id.*) Defense counsel stated he had no objection to Nettles attending and watching, but agreed that he was no longer

(2) reinstating the default judgment against Defendant in the amount of \$4,018,653.37. (Order dated 4/21/2020; R. __.) The order was based largely on the existence of the release, which the Court described as “absolv[ing] Nettles from his negligence in failing to answer the complaint.” (*Id.* at 4.) The Court found that because of Nettles’ failure to inform it of the release or of the circumstances under which it was obtained prior to either the August 27, 2019 or October 2, 2019 hearings, Nettles lacked candor and committed fraud on the court. (*See id.* at 10-11.) The order also revisited its prior factual findings regarding Nettles’ personal issues, and found that Nettles also exhibited a lack of candor by: (1) incorrectly stating he was in the process of admitting his brother to an assisted living facility at the time he was retained to defend this case and (2) failing to disclose that his brother had an adult child living in Florence who could attend to her father’s needs and instead contended he was the sole available caretaker. (*Id.* at 8; R. __.) Relying on this “pattern of conduct” the court reached a “new and different” conclusion, holding that Nettles’ actions were extrinsic fraud that prevented Plaintiff from fully exhibiting and trying his case. (*Id.* at 9, 11; R. __.)

Defendant filed a timely motion to reconsider this latest order on May 1, 2020. (Def.’s Rule 59(e) Mot.; R. __.) Defendant reasserted that Rule 60(b) was not a procedurally proper mechanism for the court to vacate a prior interlocutory order and to reinstate a default judgment. (*Id.* at 5-9; R. __.) Moreover, Defendant again contended that the existence of the release had no bearing on whether there was good cause to excuse the default and, in any event, Nettles’ actions did not rise to the level of extrinsic fraud. (*Id.* at 9-14; R. __.) Defendant also argued the court made incorrect findings of fact as to the date of Nettles’ brother’s admission into the assisted living

counsel of record. (*See id.* at 4:20-5:12; R. __.) The court then asked if either side had an objection to going forward without Nettles present and both sides confirmed they had no objection. (*Id.* at 5:6-12; R. __.)

facility and that Nettles' brother had an adult daughter living in Florence who was able to provide care. (*Id.* at 7; R. ____.)

The court denied Defendant's motion via order dated May 7, 2020 in all relevant respects for this appeal. (Order dated 5/7/2020; R. __.) The court clarified a factual statement in the prior order to reflect that Nettles was no longer employed by the Folkens Law Firm at the time he obtained the release, but denied all of Defendant's substantive arguments. (*See id.*)

On May 28, 2020, Defendant timely filed and served a notice of appeal of the judgment. (Not. of Appeal; R. __.)

II. Factual background and procedural history of Defendant's Rule 60(b) motion premised on the newly discovered evidence of Nettles' affidavit.

On July 24, 2020, while the initial briefing was ongoing in this Court, Nettles gave an affidavit which directly contradicted the entire factual basis for the court's April 21, 2020 order. In the affidavit, Nettles unequivocally and irrevocably nullified the release and confirmed that it no longer has any force or effect. (Def.'s Rule 60(b) Mot., Ex. 1 – Aff. of Louis Nettles at ¶ 11; R. __.) The affidavit explained that Defendant could keep the benefits the release conferred on him, but that they were entirely gratuitous. (*Id.* at ¶ 12; R. __.) Nettles, however, relinquished any rights or benefits obtained from the release and avowed to never attempt to enforce its terms. (*Id.*) The affidavit also provided additional support and clarification regarding Nettles' statements that he was: (1) involved in admitting his brother to the assisted living facility at the time he was retained in this case and (2) was the only person in the Florence area available to care for his brother at the time. (*See id.* at ¶¶ 14-21; R. __.)

In light of this new evidence, Defendant moved for relief from the judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b)(2) on July 27, 2020. (*See* Def.'s Rule 60(b) Mot.; R. __.) The lower court held a

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