THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000815

Dennis Robert Mitton,

v.

Danny James,

RECEIVED

Jan 15 2021

SC Court of Appeals

Respondent,

Appellant,

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

William P. Hatfield
S.C. Bar No. 2840
E. Hood Temple
S.C. Bar No. 12962
HATFIELD TEMPLE, LLP
170 Courthouse Square
Post Office Box 1770
Florence, SC 29503-1770
(843) 662-5000
eh temple@htlawsc.com

and

Bert G. Utsey, III
S.C. Bar No. 10093
CLAWSON FARGNOLI UTSEY, LLC
706 Orleans Road, Suite 101
Charleston, SC 29407
P.O. Box 30968 (29417)
(843) 970-2700
bert@cfulaw.com

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

- Mr. Nettles “immediately” requested an extension via email. (Memo. in Support of Motion for Relief from Default, p. 3; Tr. of Aug. 27, 2019 hearing, p. 6; R. pp. __). Appellant did not submit a copy of the email to the Court in support of his Motion for Relief.
- Respondent’s counsel did not respond to Mr. Nettles’ email. (Memo. in Support of Motion for Relief from Default, p. 3; Tr. of Aug. 27, 2019 hearing, p. 6; R. pp. __).
- The week of December 7, 2018, Mr. Nettles “was in the process of having his younger brother admitted to assisted living due to early onset dementia and was trying to manage his brother’s affairs without the assistance of his brother due to the dementia.” (Memo. in Support of Motion for Relief from Default, p. 3; Tr. of Aug. 27, 2019 hearing, pp. 5-6; R. pp. __).
- In the ensuing weeks, Mr. Nettles “just missed the deadline.” (Tr. of Aug. 27, 2019 hearing, p. 6; R. p. __).
- Mr. Nettles’ mother was elderly, became ill, was hospitalized for almost two weeks in February 2019, and passed away at the end of that month. (Memo. in Support of Motion for Relief from Default, p. 4; Tr. of Aug. 27, 2019 hearing, p. 6; R. pp. __).

To obtain relief from the entry of default, Appellant was required to show “good cause.”

Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., 298 S.C. 462, 465, 381 S.E.2d 499, 501 (Ct. App. 1989).

This standard requires a party seeking relief from an entry of default under Rule 55(c) to provide *an explanation for the default* and give reasons why vacation of the default entry would serve the interests of justice.

Sundown Operating Co. v. Intedge Indus., 383 S.C. 601, 607, 681 S.E.2d 885, 888 (2009)

(emphasis added). As is clear from the name of the standard and its requirement of explaining why the default occurred, there has to be a causal connection between the explanation and the default in order to be considered “good cause.”

Appellant essentially offered four explanations for his default: (1) his defense was being handled by Mr. Nettles, who failed to file an Answer (which, as discussed above, is a legally deficient explanation); (2) Mr. Nettles “just missed the deadline” (which is also inadequate as a matter of law); (3) Mr. Nettles’ obligations to his brother; and/or (4) Mr. Nettles’ mother’s issues.

Mr. Nettles only claimed he was assisting his brother the week of December 7, 2018, which was a Friday. There is no further explanation why this would have caused him to be unable to file an Answer (or make additional efforts to obtain an extension) the following week, or at least by the December 17, 2018 deadline to respond. In short, Appellant failed to demonstrate that this explanation was causally related to the default, which certainly cannot constitute “good cause.” *See Ammons v. Hood*, 288 S.C. 278, 341 S.E.2d 816 (Ct. App. 1986) (trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying relief based on defendant’s argument he was extremely busy and suffered from “business-related stress” but acknowledged he had some knowledge of business matters).

Likewise, Appellant failed to demonstrate why Mr. Nettles’ mother’s illness and hospitalization some two months after the deadline to respond to the Complaint had any causal relationship to Appellant’s default. The Circuit Court therefore correctly concluded this was also an inadequate explanation to satisfy the “good cause” standard.

Even if Appellant could establish good cause for his default, the Court would still have to consider whether he could establish a meritorious defense if the relief were granted.¹⁶ *Wilder v. Blue Ribbon Taxicab Corp.*, 396 S.C. 139, 145, 719 S.E.2d 703, 706 (Ct. App. 2011). Here, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant’s Motion for Relief because Appellant failed to present a meritorious defense. *See McClurg v. Deaton*, 380 S.C. 563, 574, 671 S.E.2d 87, 93 (Ct. App. 2008), *aff’d*, 395 S.C. 85, 716 S.E.2d 887 (2011) (“[N]ot only must the movant make a proper showing he is entitled to relief based upon one of the specified grounds, he must also make a prima facie showing of a meritorious defense.”). Appellant concedes he has no

¹⁶ Appellant suggests Respondent cannot raise this issue because he did not appeal the Circuit Court’s now-vacated findings on this topic. (Appellant’s Am. Initial Brief, p. 39). However, there was no basis for Respondent to appeal a finding that had been vacated. Moreover, Respondent has the right to raise this issue as an additional sustaining ground under Rule 208(b)(2), SCACR.

defense to liability for causing the subject collision (Tr. of Aug. 27, 2019 hearing, p. 6; R. p. ___) but asserts he raised a meritorious defense contesting damages (Appellant’s Am. Initial Brief, p. 39); however, he failed to present any affidavits or other supporting evidence to contest Respondent’s damages.¹⁷ *McClurg*, 380 S.C. at 575, 671 S.E.2d at 94 (the moving party must introduce “evidence of record, by affidavit or otherwise” to support a claim of meritorious defense); *see also h v. Hammond*, 299 S.C. 116, 120, 382 S.E.2d 900, 903 (1989) (stating a movant must present a defense that raises a question of law worth discussing or that raises a real controversy arising from conflicting or doubtful evidence); *Bowers v. Bowers*, 304 S.C. 65, 67, 403 S.E.2d 127, 129 (Ct. App. 1991) (a party seeking relief from a default judgment “has the burden of presenting evidence proving the facts essential to entitle him to relief.”).

Because Appellant failed to provide evidence of a meritorious defense to this action, this Court should find he failed to meet his burden to obtain relief from default and should affirm the judgment entered by the Circuit Court.

6. The Circuit Court correctly denied Appellant’s Rule 60(b) Motion.

Appellant’s Rule 60(b) Motion attempted – by submitting and relying upon a second affidavit from Mr. Nettles (Rule 60(b) Motion, Ex. 1; R. p. ___)¹⁸ – to have the Circuit Court revisit its factual findings related to Appellant’s efforts to obtain relief from default.

In its Rule 60(b) Order denying Appellant’s motion, the Circuit Court correctly set forth Appellant’s burden under Rule 60(b)(2), SCRCP, to present sufficient “newly discovered”

¹⁷ Appellant’s argument on this topic is suspect in any event because our appellate courts have never resolved the question “whether a meritorious defense as to damages alone and not as to liability is an adequate basis for the grant of Rule 60 relief.” *McClurg v. Deaton*, 395 S.C. 85, 87, 716 S.E.2d 887, 888 (2011).

¹⁸ Appellant had previously filed an affidavit by Mr. Nettles in support of his Rule 59(e) Motion seeking relief from the Default Order. (Rule 59(e) Motion, Ex. C; R. p. ___).

evidence that: (1) would probably change the result if the matter was reheard; (2) was discovered after the hearing resulting in the judgment; (3) could not have been discovered before the hearing; (4) is material; and (5) is not merely cumulative. (Rule 60(b) Order, pp. 2-3; R. pp. __).

As the Circuit Court correctly summarized, “[r]elief under the rule depends upon the post-trial discovery of previously unknown, outcome-changing facts the moving party could not have, with due diligence, unearthed before [the hearing].” (Rule 60(b) Order, p. 3; R. p. __) (*quoting Morin v. Innegrity, LLC*, 424 S.C. 559, 578, 819 S.E.2d 131, 141 (Ct. App. 2018)).

The Circuit Court properly applied the Rule 60(b)(2) standards in denying Appellant’s motion. First and foremost, it correctly concluded that Appellant could not satisfy his burden by relying upon Mr. Nettles’ second affidavit and its attached exhibits because those contained information known to, available to, within exclusive control of, and/or readily discoverable via due diligence by Appellant and his attorney/agent Mr. Nettles before the hearing on Respondent’s Motion to Vacate. As such, the proffered evidence was not “newly discovered” evidence. *See, e.g., Southeastern Housing Found. v. Smith*, 380 S.C. 621, 637, 670 S.E.2d 680, 688 (Ct App. 2008); *Lanier v. Lanier*, 364 S.C. 211, 218, 612 S.E.2d 456, 459 (Ct. App. 2005).

Additionally, Appellant offered no reasonable explanation for neglecting to offer that evidence prior the Reinstatement Order. The nature of the evidence was such that there truly could be no reason for this other than his simple failure to meet his burden for obtaining relief from default. The Circuit Court properly denied Appellant yet another “bite at the apple” on that issue.

Finally, the proffered evidence was cumulative. In *Lanier v. Lanier*, 364 S.C. at 217, 612 S.E.2d at 459, this Court recited the Rule 60(b)(2) standards and cited several cases in support. One of those cases, *Lloyd v. Gill*, 406 F.2d 585 (5th Cir. 1969), addressed the “cumulative” aspect of the standards and noted that evidence offered in support of the motion must be compared to the

evidence at the previous hearing and must be rejected if it is “cumulative, corroborative or contradictory” of that evidence. *Id.* at 587.

Because the allegedly new evidence of Mr. Nettles’ family obligations related to facts that were in issue at the previous hearings on Appellant’s Motion for Relief from Entry of Default, Appellant’s Rule 59(e) Motion, and Respondent’s Motion to Vacate, the Circuit Court correctly found it was outside the scope of Rule 60(b)(2). Similarly, the allegedly new evidence regarding Mr. Nettles’ unilateral rescission of Appellant’s release was cumulative of a fact that Appellant had conceded at the hearing on the Motion to Vacate, where his attorney admitted the release was invalid and unenforceable (Tr. of Mar. 27, 2020 hearing, p. 26; R. p. ___), a conclusion with which the Circuit Court concurred. (Tr. of Aug. 19, 2020 hearing, pp. 12-13; R. pp. ___). The Circuit Court was thus also correct in concluding this evidence failed to meet the requirements of Rule 60(b)(2).

In addition, the Circuit Court properly concluded Appellant’s Rule 60(b) Motion was untimely. (Rule 60(b) Order, p. 5; R. p. ___). A motion under Rule 60(b)(2) must be filed “within a reasonable time, and ... not more than one year after the judgment, order or proceeding was entered or taken.” Rule 60(b), SCRCF.

The Circuit Court entered Appellant’s default on March 27, 2019. (Order of Default; R. p. ___). In response, Appellant interjected the issues of Mr. Nettles’ family obligations when he filed his Motion for Relief from Entry of Default on April 4, 2019. There, he asserted: “The week the suit papers were sent, Defendant’s counsel was in the process of having his younger brother admitted to assisted living due to early onset dementia and was trying to manage his brother’s affairs without the assistance of his brother due to the dementia. In addition, Counsel’s mother

was aging and was hospitalized for almost two weeks in February and passed away at the end of the month.” (Motion for Relief from Entry of Default, p. 2; R. p. ___).

Appellant filed his Rule 60(b) Motion – including the additional evidence upon which he sought to rely – on July 27, 2020. (Rule 60(b) Motion; R. p. ___). This was well over a year after the finding of default that Appellant sought to challenge with evidence of Mr. Nettles’ family obligations and was therefore untimely on that basis. In addition, while the Rule 60(b) Motion was filed slightly less than one year after the Default Order of August 30, 2019, the Circuit Court’s conclusion that it was not filed within a reasonable time when compared to that order was not an abuse of discretion considering that the Default Order addressed and ruled upon the factual arguments raised in Appellant’s Motion for Relief from Entry of Default dated April 4, 2019.

7. The Circuit Judge properly declined to rule on Appellant’s Motion to Stay.

Following entry of the judgment, the Circuit Judge referred this matter to a Special Referee to conduct supplemental proceedings “for the purpose of carrying Plaintiff’s Judgment into effect, and for such other relief as may be deemed proper” and granted to the Special Referee “full authority to enter a final order disposing of all issues before him.” (Order and Rule to Show Cause, p. 1; R. p. ___). Appellant’s Motion to Stay sought to stay execution of the judgment, including supplemental proceedings. (Motion to Stay, p. 3; Tr. of Aug. 19, 2020 hearing, pp. 29-30; R. p. ___). The Circuit Judge construed its Order referring the case to include a reference of “all matters related to the execution of the judgment, including the Motion to Stay.” (Rule 60(b) Order, p. 2; R. p. ___).

Appellant argues the Circuit Judge abused his discretion by misinterpreting the scope of his previous Order. However, not only did the Circuit Judge have the authority to construe his own Order, he also had the power to refer resolution of the Motion to Stay to the Special Referee. *See* Rule 53(b), SCRCF. So, either the original Order of reference was broad enough to encompass

the Motion to Stay within the matters referred or the Rule 60(b) Order should be considered as a subsequent reference of the Motion to Stay. Either ruling was within the authority and discretion of the Circuit Judge. *See Eddins v. Eddins*, 304 S.C. 133, 136, 403 S.E.2d 164, 166 (Ct. App. 1991) (“On appeal from an order in which a judge construes his own previously issued order, this court has jurisdiction to construe the appealed order, but in this situation due deference and great weight should be given to the opinion of the trial judge who had the advantage of knowing his own intent.”). There was no abuse of discretion.¹⁹

8. Appellant does not have the right to appeal the Assignment Order.

The Court should reject Appellant’s appeal of the Assignment Order (*see* Appellant’s Am. Initial Brief, pp. 42-48) on the grounds that he has no right to appeal rulings related to enforcement of the judgment and he is not aggrieved by that Order.

Once a court enters a default judgment, the defendant has no right to appeal that judgment, *see, e.g., Winesett v. Winesett*, 287 S.C. 332, 333-34, 338 S.E.2d 340, 341 (1985), but may only appeal a denial of a motion seeking relief from the judgment. *Stearns Bank Nat. Assoc. v. Glenwood Falls, LP*, 375 S.C. 423, 426, 653 S.E.2d 274, 276 (2007). The reasons for this rule include the fact that the defaulting party lacks the status in court necessary to permit such an appeal. *Winesett*, 287 S.C. at 333, 338 S.E.2d at 341, *citing Washington v. Hesse*, 56 S.C. 28, 29, 33 S.E. 787, 787 (1899). It therefore follows that a defaulting party also lacks standing to challenge rulings related to the *enforcement* of a non-appealable default judgment; otherwise, he would be allowed to circumvent the direct appeal prohibition and to thwart the judgment creditor’s right to collect on a properly issued default judgment.

¹⁹ Appellant did not seek this Court’s review of the Special Referee’s denial of the Motion to Stay under Rule 241(d)(2), SCACR, so it is difficult to understand how he claims prejudice from the Circuit Judge’s decision not to hear the motion.

Here, Appellant had no right to appeal the default judgment against him. Similarly, the Court should hold that he has no right to appeal an order that enforces the judgment.

Additionally, the Court should find that Appellant was not aggrieved by the Assignment Order and thus has no right (*i.e.*, lacks standing) to appeal on that basis as well. “Only a party aggrieved by an order ... may appeal.” Rule 201(b), SCACR; *accord* S.C. CODE ANN. § 18-1-30 (2014). To be aggrieved a party must demonstrate that an appealed order causes him substantial injury by imposing a burden or obligation or denying him a personal or property right. *Shaw v. City of Charleston*, 351 S.C. 32, 36-37, 567 S.E.2d 530, 532 (Ct. App. 2002).

The Assignment Order does none of those things to Appellant. To the contrary, if Respondent successfully pursues recovery on the assigned claim against SCFB, Appellant will benefit because the judgment against him will be reduced or satisfied. Moreover, Appellant could also benefit by receiving a portion of Respondent’s successful recovery on that claim if it exceeds the judgment amount. (Assignment Order, p. 4; R. p. ___).

On the other hand, Appellant’s attempt to reverse the Assignment Order is actually against his interests inasmuch as any success in that effort would greatly impair his ability to satisfy the judgment, which continues to accrue interest at the statutory rate while Appellant contests the assignment.

As such, Appellant lacks standing to pursue his appeal from the Assignment Order.

9. The Special Referee properly assigned Appellant’s claim against SCFB.

Even if the Court were to entertain Appellant’s appeal of the Assignment Order, it should find that the Special Referee did not err in assigning Appellant’s rights against SCFB.

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